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DECISION


There is cause to discipline Mark A. Beckham for being convicted of mail fraud and for failing to maintain the good moral character required to obtain renewal of his license.
Procedure


The State Board of Accountancy (“the Board”) filed a complaint.  We served Beckham with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint by certified mail on October 27, 2007.  We held our hearing on January 15, 2008.  Samantha A. Harris represented the Board.  Neither Beckham nor anyone representing him appeared. 
Findings of Fact


1.
The Board issued a certificate to Beckham authorizing him to practice as a certified public accountant (“CPA”) on January 19, 1978.
  Beckham’s license expired on September 30, 2005, due to Beckham’s failure to renew it.

2.
While Beckham was licensed, he served as the chief executive officer of Sports and Fitness Management Corporation (“SFMC”), a Missouri corporation.  Beckham directed SFMC’s day-to-day operations.  

3.
From January 1, 1999, until October 2001, Beckham devised a scheme to defraud and to obtain money and property from investors in SFMC and its related entities by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises.  This included, but was not limited to:

a.
making false and misleading statements concerning the financial condition of SFMC that purported to show that SFMC and its related entities were financially sound and profitable, when in fact they were not;
b.  promising investors rates of return to induce them to invest with his companies when he was aware that he could not sustain the payment of such interest rates;

c.
concealing from investors that beginning in July 2001, SFMC was unable to pay its federal and state employee withholding taxes and ceased to do so;
d.
kiting checks; and
e.
in September 2001, seeking money from SFMC investors by:

i.
assuring them that SFMC was financially sound, when he knew that it was not;

ii.  telling SFMC investors that the company was experiencing a negative cash flow of over $200,000 per month but that investors would be repaid their investment even though Beckham knew that there were no funds with which to pay the investors; and 

iii.
making small payments to SFMC investors to lull them into believing that their investments were safe.


4.
On or about October 5, 2001, Beckham sent to Mark Prince an envelope containing a check for $250 through the United States Postal Service.  Beckham did this to obtain money and property from Mack and Beverly Prince, investors.


5.
The United States of America indicted Beckham in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri.  Count 2 of the Indictment charged:

On or about October 5, 2001, . . . Mark A. Beckham . . . for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme, and artifice to defraud and in attempting to do so and obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises from Mack and Beverly Prince, investors, did knowingly and willfully place and cause to be placed in an authorized depository for mail matter, to be sent and delivered by the United States Postal Service, and according to the directions thereon, to Mark Prince, 14850 Frais Drive, Florissant, MO 63034, an envelope containing a check for $250.00.  


In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2.

6.
On October 6, 2006, Beckham pled guilty to Count 2 of the indictment.  The United States dismissed Counts 1 and 3 through 31.  The court sentenced Beckham to 12 months and one day of imprisonment followed by three years of supervised release.  The court also ordered Beckham to pay $100 in penalties and restitution of $125,000.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction of the complaint.
  The Board has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.

I.  Conviction for Mail Fraud


The Board cites § 326.310.2(2), which allows discipline when:

[t]he person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]
The Board offered certified court records and its request for admissions.  Beckham never responded to the request for admissions.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting without an attorney.
  These exhibits prove that Beckham pled guilty to and was finally adjudicated and found guilty of one count of mail fraud under 18 U.S.C. §1341, which, at the time of Beckham’s conduct, provided:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in any post office or authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be 
fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.
A.  Qualifications of a CPA


A qualification for licensure as a CPA is that the person be “of good moral character.”
  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  Using lies and deceitful practices to obtain something illegally relates to moral character.  Accordingly, mail fraud reasonably relates to a qualification of a CPA.  Therefore, § 326.310.2(2) provides cause to discipline Beckham.

B.  Functions or Duties of a CPA 

Section 326.256 sets forth the functions and duties of a CPA through its definitions:

(17) “Public accounting”:
(a) Performing or offering to perform for an enterprise, client or potential client one or more services involving the use of accounting or auditing skills, or one or more management advisory or consulting services, or the preparation of tax returns or the furnishing of advice on tax matters by a person, firm, limited liability company or professional corporation using the title “C.P.A.” or “P.A.” in signs, advertising, directory listing, business cards, letterheads or other public representations;
(b) Signing or affixing a name, with any wording indicating the person or entity has expert knowledge in accounting or auditing to any opinion or certificate attesting to the reliability of any representation or estimate in regard to any person or organization embracing financial information or facts respecting compliance with conditions established by law or contract, including but not limited to statutes, ordinances, rules, grants, loans and appropriations; or
(c) Offering to the public or to prospective clients to perform, or actually performing on behalf of clients, professional services that involve or require an audit or examination of financial records leading to the expression of a written attestation or opinion concerning these records;
(18) “Report”, when used with reference to financial statements, means an opinion, report or other form of language that states or implies assurance as to the reliability of any financial statements, and that also includes or is accompanied by any statement or implication that the person or firm issuing it has special knowledge or competence in accounting or auditing.  Such a statement or implication of special knowledge or competence may arise from use by the issuer of the report of names or titles indicating that the person or firm is an accountant or auditor, or from the language of the report itself.  The term report includes any form of language which disclaims an opinion when such form of language is conventionally understood to imply any positive assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements referred to or special competence on the part of the person or firm issuing such language, or both, and includes any other form of language that is conventionally understood to imply such assurance or such special knowledge or competence, or both;
(19) “Review”, providing a service to be performed in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) that is performing inquiry and analytical procedures that provide the accountant with a reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the statements for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or, if applicable, with another comprehensive basis of accounting[.]

These functions and duties involve the CPA’s accurate and honest representations about the financial status and integrity of businesses and individuals so that others might rely on the representations.  Mail fraud involves lies and deceitful practices to obtain something illegally from others.  Accordingly, mail fraud is a crime reasonably related to the functions or duties of a CPA.  There is cause to discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(2).
B.  Fraud and Dishonesty as an Essential Element


To determine whether fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of a crime:

the question is not whether this particular respondent was in fact guilty of a dishonest or fraudulent intent; rather, the question is whether the offense with which he was charged and to which he pleaded guilty is one necessitating proof of fraud or dishonesty—that is, always requiring that fraud or dishonesty be present as an element of the offense.[
]
Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  A conviction for mail fraud under 18 USC § 1314 always requires those elements.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(2).
C.  Moral Turpitude

Moral turpitude is: 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”  

Mail fraud always involves lies or deceit to obtain something unlawfully.  Using lies and deceitful practices to obtain something illegally is base conduct that violates a person’s social duties to other people and to society in general.  Such has always been contrary to the accepted rule between people.  Therefore, Beckham’s mail fraud conviction involves moral turpitude, and there is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(2).
II.  Professional Trust or Confidence

The Board contends that it may discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(13) for:
[v]iolation of any professional trust or confidence[.]
Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  

The Board proved that Beckham committed the conduct set forth in Count 2 of the indictment when it proved that the proceedings had resulted in a conviction for the mail fraud charged in Count 2.  The conviction collaterally estops Beckham from offering any proof that he did not commit the acts for which he was convicted.
  Nevertheless, nothing in the guilty plea or in the request for admissions indicates that Beckham was functioning and relating to the investors as anything other than the chief executive director of SFMC who directed day-to-day operations.  There is nothing to show that he held himself out as a CPA to the investors or that he used his CPA status to gain their trust.  While it is true that Beckham made representations designed to secure the trust or confidence in SFMC, as a business venture, and in himself as the chief executive officer of that business, there is nothing to show that he developed or attempted to develop trust or confidence in himself to act as a CPA.  Therefore, we find no basis to discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(13).
III.  License Renewal Requirements

The Board contends that it may discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(19) for:
[f]ailure, on the part of a holder of a certificate, license or permit pursuant to section 326.280 or 326.289, to maintain compliance with the requirements for issuance or renewal of such certificate, license, permit or provisional license or to report changes to the board pursuant to section 326.280 or 326.289[.]

The Board may renew CPA licenses for “persons who make application and demonstrate that their qualifications, including the qualifications prescribed by section 326.280, are in accordance with this section.”
  Good moral character is a requirement to hold a CPA license.
  Applying the definition of good moral character set forth earlier, we conclude that the conduct that 
Beckham engaged in and that served as a basis for his conviction under Count 2 demonstrates a lack of good moral character.  There is cause to discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(19).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Beckham under § 326.310.2(2) and (19).  


SO ORDERED on February 25, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.     


Commissioner
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